
FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF THE HAWAI'I FARMERS UNION UNITED A DIVISION OF

THE FARMERS EDUCATIONAL AND COOPERATIVE UNION OF AMERICA

(ADOPTED 6-28-2011, AMENDED AND RESTATED NOVEMBER 26, 2013 AND NOVEMBER 6, 2014 AND NOVEMBER 14, 2015 AND NOVEMBER 17, 2016)

ARTICLE 1 – Preamble

Be it known, that we, citizens and residents of the State of Hawai'i have voluntarily associated together as an educational and cooperative association for our mutual benefit and the benefit of Hawai'i under the name and title of Hawai'i Farmers Union United, an unchartered subdivision of the Farmers Educational and Cooperative Union of America, widely identified as National Farmers Union, and do declare the following to be our aims and purpose:

To live in harmony, good will and understanding among all people through promoting and advancing the great truth of the connection among all humankind and all Life;

To establish economic and political justice, food sovereignty and security by achieving fair and secure farm prices, equitable and reasonable access to land, water, and capital, fair income for farmers and agricultural workers, and fair prices for consumers, thereby strengthening the local economy;

To educate our members in the art and science of producing, classifying, marketing and distributing agricultural products cooperatively;

To teach the principles and philosophy of cooperation and encourage and promote the practice in the lives of all people;

To respect the local and global environment and to protect the finite resources of soil and water, increase biodiversity, and respect human and animal welfare;

To learn from and honor the heritage and to perpetuate the Kānaka Maoli and other traditional cultures:

That we may pursue our purpose and attain our objectives by orderly processes and efficient methods, and through a system of affiliated County and Community units with associated institutions including cooperatives, non-profit and for-profit businesses, culminating in a state organization under the National Farmers Union, we do ordain and adopt the following Bylaws for our regulation and government.

ARTICLE 2 – Objectives

The objectives of the Hawai'i Division of the Farmers Educational and Cooperative Union of America, hereinafter called HFUU, or the State Division, shall be:

To encourage and support cooperative and other ventures of agricultural product and service institutions that are consistent with the HFUU mission and vision; To enhance educational opportunities for youth and adults in ecological agricultural practices, cooperative principles and practices, democracy, collaborative leadership, and compassionate communication and conflict resolution;

To create a vibrant, and resilient production-based agricultural economy centered on creating a quality life for Hawai'i's people in concert with their environment, and

To promote, support and protect the Hawai'i Farmers Union United or "HFUU" name and the interests of its members who are primarily engaged in farming as family and other local farming enterprises and who value regenerative agricultural practices.

ARTICLE 3 - Name, Structure and Property Section 3.1. Name, Address and Fiscal Year

A. Name. The name of the organization shall be the Hawai'i Farmers Union United, also referred to as the "Hawai'i Farmers Union", hereinafter also referred as the "State Division" or "HFUU".

B. Address. The legal physical office of this corporation shall be that of the President or such address as the Board of Directors shall decide. Its active office shall be established wherever the day-to-day activities of this corporation so require.

C. Fiscal Year. The HFUU fiscal year shall begin January 1 and end December 31. **Section 3.2. Structure**

HFUU is a nonprofit corporation organized under the laws of the state of Hawai'i, that is composed of its officers, directors and members, organized as Affiliate Chapters (hereafter "Chapter" or "Chapters") within a county, island or geographic locality to participate in HFUU activities. HFUU and its Chapters form a single, limited liability, Hawai'i nonprofit corporation under Section 501(c)(5) of the federal Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended or any successor provision of that Section or corresponding section of any future federal tax code ("Internal Revenue Code") of which the Chapters are constituent elements.

Section 3.3. Chapter Organization

A. Limited Liabilities. HFUU and its Chapters are organized to support each other in the sharing of revenues derived from annual membership dues and other common goals and programs in the form of a single limited liability, nonprofit corporation while fostering maximum autonomy at the Chapter level; provided that, HFUU shall not be legally liable for any obligations of any of its members or Chapters engaged in an Independent Enterprise or contracts for employment, which HFUU has not specifically assumed in writing.

- **B. Independent Enterprises.** Any Chapter may organize as one or more separate corporations or other legal entities (excluding partnerships) for business or charitable purposes as an "Independent Enterprise" without HFUU Board approval, and the Chapter governed by its Board of Directors, shall remain a constituent element of the HFUU 501(c)(5) nonprofit corporation for all purposes as provided in these Bylaws and the Articles of Incorporation. No Chapter if acting as a constituent element of this corporation will engage in activities not permitted under Section 501(c)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code or HFUU's Articles and Bylaws. In consultation with the Chapters, the HFUU Board of Directors may adopt policies to implement this subsection.
- **C. Approval of Contracts.** Unless a Chapter is operating through a corporation or other Independent Enterprise, the HFUU Board of Directors must first approve in writing any Chapter contract or other obligation that might expose HFUU to additional liability.
- **D. Formation.** Any county, island or geographic locality with 10 members or more may petition the State Division to form a Chapter.
- **E. Chapter Names.** The official name of each Chapter will normally be associated with a Hawai'i county, island or other geographic locality preceded by the acronym "HFUU"

Chapter"). If other farmers wish to form a new Chapter in a specific geographic locality that might be confused with an existing Chapter, the HFUU Board of Directors shall first consult with the existing Chapter's Board of Directors about the potential relationship between the two Chapters, including their names. If the HFUU Board thereafter decides to admit the proposed Chapter, the HFUU Board, the existing Chapter Board and proposed Chapter organizers will agree to names that accurately describe the geographic localities of each Chapter through mutual, good faith consultations. If the names cannot be decided through consultation, the HFUU Board may declare an impasse and decide the matter. No HFUU Chapter may use the name "Farmers Union" as a part of its name, because that name is a registered trade name of the National Farmers Union and cannot be used without NFU permission. Names in the Hawaiian language shall be properly formulated according to the rules of grammar, syntax and spelling applicable to that language.

- **F. Directors and Officers.** Each Chapter shall hold annual meetings for the election of directors to the Chapter Board. Directors must be elected by a majority or regular members present at the meeting, or be appointed by a majority of the board of directors, (in the case of a vacancy) in an interim capacity until the next annual election. Unless otherwise provided in the Chapter Bylaws, the Chapter Board shall elect a President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer from among the Board and other officers as they deem necessary and appropriate who may or may not be members of the Board. Any two or more offices may be combined, except no person may serve simultaneously as President or Vice President and Secretary. The President of each Chapter shall also be a Director on the State Board. All Chapter Directors and Board Officers shall be Regular Members.
- **G. Bylaws.** Each Chapter shall adopt and may amend a set of bylaws to govern its activities, subject to the approval of the State Board of Directors.
- **H. Suspension.** The HFUU Board may suspend any Chapter that falls below the minimum ten (10) members or fails to meet for a period of six (6) months until such time as it regains sufficient membership and control of its affairs. The Chapter shall be afforded not less than fifteen (15) days prior, written notice of the proposed action and the opportunity to defend itself either in orally or in writing not less than five (5) days before the effective date of the suspension.
- **I. Expulsion.** A Chapter may also be suspended or expelled for conduct deemed detrimental to the Hawai'i Farmers Union United but only at a special membership meeting specifically describing the reason(s), the effective date, length and other terms of the proposed suspension or expulsion. The Chapter shall be afforded not less than fifteen (15) days prior, written notice of the proposed action and the opportunity to defend itself either in orally or in writing not less than five (5) days before the effective date of the suspension or expulsion. The quorum for the special meeting shall be at least fifty percent (50%) of the Regular Members. Suspension or expulsion shall require the majority vote of those Regular Members entitled to vote and present at the meeting either in person or by Delegates. The meeting shall otherwise be conducted as required by these Bylaws and other applicable law.

Section 3.4. Facilities

A. State Office. HFUU may purchase, lease or otherwise acquire and maintain a place of business within the state of Hawai'i, to be known as the "State Office," and wherein the

organization's office and business records shall be located, and it shall be the State Division's principal place of business.

B. Property. HFUU may purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any and all property necessary for its mission, and in due course sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of any or all of such property, in the manner provided by law and these Bylaws.

Section 3.5. Title to Property

A. HFUU Property. All real and personal property acquired for use of the State Division, shall be taken in the name of the "Hawai'i Farmers Union United", which shall be the owner such property, with the right to use, sell, lease or otherwise keep, hold or dispose of the same.

- **B. Chapter Property.** Unless operating through a separate corporation or other legal entity all interests in real property acquired for use by a Chapter shall be taken in the name of both HFUU and the Chapter as tenants in common and managed in a way consistent with the Chapter's bylaws for the primary benefit of the Chapter. In the event the Chapter is dissolved, any interest in real property so acquired will revert to the State Division and in the discretion of the State Board held in trust for a future Chapter organized in that geographic subdivision or fairly distributed to other Chapters.
- **C. Contributions.** HFUU and the Chapters may receive voluntary contributions in any form in support of their respective programs and activities.

Section 3.6. Activities, Dissolution and Distribution of Assets

Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws, the corporation will not engage in activities not permitted for a corporation exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(5) of the Code or corresponding section of any future federal tax code. If the HFUU nonprofit corporation shall cease to exist or shall be dissolved, all property and assets of the corporation of every kind, after payment, or making provision for the payment, of its just debts and liabilities shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended or any successor provision of that Section ("Internal Revenue Code"), or distributed to one or more corporations, associations or other organizations that are exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code, as determined by the board of directors or other competent authority.

Section 3.7. Politically Nonpartisan

HFUU shall remain politically nonpartisan. It shall not endorse or disapprove of candidates for political office. No director, officer, employee Regular, or Associate Member of the State division or a local Chapter shall use the name of HFUU or their position as an HFUU member in endorsing or disapproving of any candidates for political office.

ARTICLE 4 – Membership Section 4.1. Eligibility

A. Regular Members

(1) Subject to application and a seventy (70) day waiting period, any natural person regardless of race, sex, sexual preference, religion, or national origin who is at least 16 years of age who supports HFUU's goals may become a member. Any natural person satisfying the membership requirements either as an individual or through an "'Ohana" and who has paid the established dues shall be a "Regular Member".

- (2) Except in the case as provided in these Bylaws where a Regular Member is represented by a Delegate, each Regular Member, having paid dues according to these Bylaws, and in good standing from the date of their membership application and for at least seventy (70) days before a meeting, shall be entitled to one vote upon any and all matters coming before a meeting of the HFUU membership at which they are present and to participate in a petition under these Bylaws.
- (3) All HFUU officers, board members, committee chairs, and Delegates shall be Regular Members, it being specifically understood that Regular Members are the only members eligible to decide or determine any of the business affairs, policies, or actions of HFUU.
- (4) No person is eligible for any form of HFUU membership who is engaged in an occupation or business inconsistent with and injurious to the interest or welfare of family type farming.
- (5) The application of any prospective new member shall be subject to review by the HFUU and their respective Chapter Board of Directors for a period of seventy (70) days from the date of their membership application. Unless the State Board or their respective Chapter Board objects in writing, they shall become a Regular Member upon expiration of the 70-day period.

B. Associate Members

The Board of Directors and any Chapter may establish categories for "Associate Members" for persons or organizations that are not a Regular Member but have an interest in HFUU directly or through an associated entity. The Board or any Charter may establish separate dues levels for categories of Associate Members. Associate Members shall have neither the right to vote nor the right to hold office in the State Division or any Chapter. Each category of Associate Members shall receive such other benefits as determined by the Board of Directors or the Chapter as the case may be.

Section 4.2. Dues

- **A. Annual Dues.** From time to time the State Board shall determine the annual dues for Regular Members (which includes 'Ohana members). An 'Ohana may include up to 4 individuals, named at the time of application, which are part of the same immediate family or workers on the same farm or organization. The HFUU Board or Directors shall determine the allocation of dues according to this section.
- **B. Chapter Dues Collection Option.** With the approval of the HFUU Board of Directors, any Chapter with the capacity to do so may collect and allocate Regular Member dues according to such process as the Chapter, HFUU and NFU may mutually agree.
- **C. Dues Allocations.** The annual dues payment shall be allocated as follows:
- (1) NFU dues for each dues paying member shall be based on the then current NFU requirements and remitted to NFU by the HFUU Treasurer, HFUU's fiscal agent or any Chapter as the case may be. (2) Remaining annual dues shall be allocated between HFUU and the Chapters, provided that, the allocation to each Chapter for each Regular Member (which includes 'Ohana Members) shall be no less in whole dollars than the State Division Regular Member or 'Ohana allocation. For example if the 'Ohana Membership dues are \$85 and \$36 (\$9 X 4) are allocated to NFU then at least \$25 of the remaining \$49 in 'Ohana dues

shall be allocated to the Chapter. Dues of Associate Members shall be allocated as the HFUU or the respective Chapter Board of Directors may determine.

- **D. Dues Renewal Date.** The dues renewal date shall be the annual anniversary of the first day of the month following the date of initial membership or as otherwise recorded by NFU.
- **E. Delinquencies.** Any Regular, 'Ohana or Associate Member failing to pay dues within 30 days of the renewal date shall be considered to be delinquent in dues payment.
- **F. Suspensions.** Any such Member whose dues are delinquent shall be considered suspended and any Member who is suspended shall be ineligible to vote or to hold office while so suspended. Any Member who has been suspended may be reinstated, with rights restored as to the original date of their membership, by payment of current dues.
- **G. Dropped From Rolls**. Any Member persisting in suspension for a period exceeding 6 months may be dropped from the membership rolls, but may be reinstated, with rights restored as to the original date of their membership, by payment of current dues.

Section 4.3. Expulsion

A. Grounds. Any member may be suspended or expelled for conduct detrimental to HFUU's best interests.

- **B. Initiation.** A suspension or expulsion may be initiated in one of three ways:
- 1) A resolution of the member's Chapter organization,
- 2) By a petition of one percent of the total State Division Regular Members entitled to vote, or
- 3) By a resolution of the State Division Board of Directors.
- **C. Procedure.** The accused member shall be given not less than twenty (20) days prior, written notice either by mail or electronic mail of actions pending, and shall be allowed up to 10 days after mailing or electronic delivery of the notice to submit a written response. Within not less than five (5) or more than thirty (30) days after receipt of the accused's response, the charges shall be reviewed and action taken by the State Division Board of Directors.
- **D.** Appeals. Any order of suspension or expulsion may be appealed to and (upon the member's request) a hearing held by a Special Review Committee consisting, insofar as practicable, of one Regular Member entitled to vote from each Chapter. The State Division President shall name the committee members from a list of recommendations submitted by the Chapter presidents or through an alternative process designed to obtain Chapter participation on the Special Review Committee. No State Division officer, director, staff or independent contractor may serve on the Special Review Committee. The hearing may be held electronically and according to other procedures as the Special Review Committee shall determine appropriate, fair and equitable and as may be required by law. Any decision of the Special Review Committee shall be final for HFUU.
- **E. Reinstatement.** When a member has been expelled they shall not be permitted to make application for reinstatement for a period of two years.

Section 4.4. Transferring Membership

Any Member in good standing may transfer their membership to another Hawai'i Chapter by notifying the State Division in writing of the transfer. Such transfer shall be effective immediately, and the transferring Member's payment of all future dues shall be allocated to the new Chapter.

Section 4.5 Membership Meetings

- **A. Annual Meeting.** The State Division shall meet in October of each year for the annual meeting at a time and place determined by the HFUU Board of Directors or at a special meeting called for that purpose.
- **B. Special Meetings and Petitions.** The HFUU Board of Directors may call a special meeting of the state membership for any purpose deemed necessary. The Board of Directors shall designate the place, date, time, and purpose of the special meeting. Similarly, the state membership may request a special meeting through a petition signed by 20% of the Regular Members entitled to vote. In either case, the specific business to be brought before the meeting must be stated either in the petition or at the time the Board calls the meeting. If within thirty (30) days after receipt of the petition the Board fails to designate the place, date, time, and purpose of the meeting or to offer a valid explanation for not doing so, any Regular Member entitled to vote who signed the petition may, upon demand to the President, obtain a copy of the list of the names, mailing addresses and e-mail addresses of Regular Members entitled to vote and may designate the place, date, time, and purpose of the special meeting.
- C. Record Dates for Notice and Voting. Unless the HFUU Board sets a different date, the Record Date for determining Regular Members entitled to Notice of any Meeting shall be the business day preceding the day on which notice is given. Unless the HFUU Board sets a different date, the Record Date for determining Regular Members entitled to vote at any meeting who are otherwise eligible shall be the date of the meeting. Any other Record Date set by the HFUU Board to determine either entitlement to notice or to vote for any meeting at which the Regular Members will vote shall be not more than seventy (70) days before the meeting or action requiring a determination of members occurs.
- **D.** Adjourned Meetings. Any Regular Member whose membership is effective on or before the Record Date for the meeting shall have one vote either in person or by a Delegate on any matter brought before the meeting or any adjournment of the meeting unless the Board sets a new Record Date for the adjourned meeting or the adjournment is for more than 70 days after the Record Date for determining Members entitled to notice in which case a new record date shall be set as provided in this Section.
- **E. Meeting Notice.** Notice of the place, date, time and any matters that must be approved by the Regular Members at any membership meeting shall be given no fewer than ten (10) or more than sixty (60) days before the meeting or be otherwise fair and reasonable when all the circumstances are considered.
- **F. Membership List.** Upon giving notice of any membership meeting where Regular Members will be asked to vote, the Board of Directors shall prepare or direct the preparation of an alphabetical list of the Regular Members entitled to notice of the meeting together with their addresses and whether they will be entitled to vote at the meeting either in person or by Delegates.

- **G. Quorum.** Five percent (5%) of the Regular Members entitled to vote present in person or by Delegates shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any state meeting.
- **H. Determining Policies.** It is desirable for matters of policy to be determined as much as possible by the entire membership, rather than just the Board of Directors. To this end, all available avenues of communication will be explored to develop an effective strategy for polling the opinion of the membership on policy issues and adopting such policies by a vote at a membership meeting.

Section 4.6. Annual Meeting Delegates

- **A. Voting Delegates.** Each HFUU Chapter may appoint voting delegates to attend statewide HFUU membership m meetings to represent the views of its non-attending Chapter members collectively at such meetings and to vote for its non-attending members collectively at such meetings. Voting Delegates shall be selected and shall vote as provided below.
- **B. Chapter Delegates.** Each HFUU Chapter shall be entitled to one (1) Delegate to any HFUU membership meeting for the first 10 Chapter members and one (1) additional Delegate for each additional 50 members or fraction thereof. Each of these Delegates shall be elected at the Chapter's annual meeting and shall serve a term of one (1) year and until their successors are elected and qualified. Each Chapter shall also be entitled to two (2) additional delegates to be elected by and from among the Chapter officers or other members of the Chapter Board.
- **D. Delegate Voting.** The number of votes to be cast by for and by each Chapter through its Delegates shall be equal to the number of Regular Members of the Chapter as of the Record Date used to determine those Regular Members entitled to vote at the meeting, less the Regular Members of that Chapter present at the meeting. The number of votes to be cast by each Delegate shall be determined by dividing the number of each Chapter's Regular Members (less the Chapter's Regular Members present at the meeting) by the number of that Chapter's delegates present at the meeting. Each Chapter Delegate shall be entitled to cast the same number of votes as any of that Chapter's Delegates except as necessary for rounding of odd and even numbers, which shall be determined by the drawing of lots.
- **E. Member Voting.** Regular Members, including Delegates actually present at a meeting, shall be entitled to one (1) vote on any and all matters coming before the meeting and the number of Regular Members of the Chapter represented by Delegates shall be reduced accordingly.

ARTICLE V—State Division

Section 5.1. Board of Directors and Officers, Number, Qualifications and Meetings A. Number. The HFUU Board of Directors (Board) shall be composed of at least three (3) and up to fifteen (15) members, at least one member from Chapters within each of four counties, Hawai'i, Maui, Oahu, and Kauai, plus the President and Vice President and up to nine (9) additional director positions from Chapters authorized at the island, county or other geographic locality at the discretion of the Board of Directors to achieve geographic representation or other similar purposes.

B. Emeritus Director. The Board in its discretion may also appoint no more than one (1) Emeritus Director as one of the 15 directors. An Emeritus Directors must be a HFUU member and a former HFUU Board Member and satisfy such additional criteria as the Board may from time to time determine. Emeritus Directors shall be full voting members of the

Board and serve a term of not more than one (1) calendar year unless, with the Emeritus Director's consent, the Board appoints the Emeritus Director to additional annual terms.

- C. Officers, Agents and Employees. Officers of the State Division Board of Directors shall be: President, Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary. Any two offices may be combined except neither the President nor the Vice- President may also serve as the Secretary. The Board may also appoint such other officers, assistant officers, acting officers or agents and hire such employees as it determines necessary and appropriate to conduct HFUU business. All such other officers, agents and employees shall serve on an at will basis unless otherwise specifically provided in a written contract approved by the Board of Directors and duly signed by or on behalf of all the parties to the contract.
- **D. Qualifications.** Any Regular Member who is entitled to vote may stand as a candidate for the offices of President or Vice President. All other members of the Board shall be Regular Members entitled to vote at the time of their election or appointment to the Board. Other HFUU officers and employees may be required to be HFUU members in the discretion of the HFUU Board.
- **E. Farmer Preference.** Preference shall be afforded to Active or Retired Farmers in the nomination and election of candidates for officer and director positions it being the goal of the Hawai'i Farmers Union United that whenever practicable the officers and a majority of the HFUU Board of Directors shall be Active or Retired Farmers as defined below. In furtherance of the preference, nominations shall favor Active or Retired Farmers; Regular Members are urged to vote for an Active or Retired Farmer if there is a choice, and in case of a tie vote, an Active or Retired Farmer shall be declared the winner over a person who is not.
- **F. "Active Farmer".** An "Active Farmer" is a person at least sixteen (16) years of age who earns at least fifty percent (50%) of their livelihood, which may be measured in cash or in kind, as the owner, lessee, manager or caretaker of land or facilities in Hawai'i who is engaged in the cultivation of land or crops or who raises livestock, poultry, fish or other animals for human or animal consumption, use or enjoyment.
- **G "Retired Farmer".** A "Retired Farmer" is a person at least sixty (60) years of age who has been an Active Farmer for at least ten (10) consecutive years in Hawai'i.
- **H. Compensation.** Except for those HFUU employs in other capacities, individual members of the Board of Directors shall serve without remuneration as Directors, but may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses for travel and subsistence while serving HFUU on official business in a manner approved by the Board.
- **I. Meetings and Notice.** The Board may hold any Regular Meeting without additional notice. Special Board meetings shall be upon forty-eight (48) hours notice. The business to be conducted at a Regular or Special Meeting need not be stated in the notice. A director who attends a meeting is deemed to have waived notice unless the director states an objection to the lack of proper notice at the beginning of the meeting.
- **J. Quorum.** A majority of the directors in office immediately before a meeting begins constitutes a quorum for conducting any of the Board's business.

K. Voting. If a quorum is present when a vote is taken, the affirmative vote of a majority of Directors present is the act of the Board.

Section 5.2 Terms of Office and Vacancies

- **A. President**. The President shall be elected in even numbered years for a term of two years and until their successor is elected and qualified.
- **B.** Vice President. The Vice-President shall be elected in odd numbered years for a term of two years and until their successor is elected and qualified.
- **C. Office of President—Vacancy.** Should the office of the President become vacant for any reason, the Vice- President shall serve as "Acting President" until a successor to the President is elected at an annual or special meeting.
- **D. Other Directors.** All other Directors who are elected or appointed by their respective Chapters shall serve from the date of their installation and until the expiration of their respective Chapter terms and until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified. In the event such a director resigns or otherwise vacates their office, their successor shall be elected or appointed as provided in the Chapter's Bylaws or other Chapter procedures.

Section 5.3. Duties and Powers of HFUU Board of Directors

- **A. Duties.** HFUU directors shall discharge their duties as directors, including the Director's duties as a member of a committee:
- (1) In good faith;
- (2) With the care an ordinary prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances; and
- (3) In a manner the director reasonably believes to be in the best interest of HFUU.
- (4) In furtherance of these duties HFUU Directors:
- (a) Who are not Board Officers are required to chair or sit on at least one state Board committee;
- (b) Shall attend and be prepared to actively participate in all state Board meetings unless excused upon prior notice sent to the Board Secretary;
- (c) Shall feel free to communicate with the President or another appropriate officer between Board meetings on issues that arise within their Chapters;
- (d) Shall promote outreach to existing, renewing and potential members through monthly Chapter meetings, Membership Committees and personal contact;
- (e) Shall promote actions within their Chapters to obtain local business discounts for the benefit of Chapter members, and
- (f) Shall support HFUU in the growth and development of family farms.
- **B. Powers.** The HFUU Board of Directors shall have all the power of the State Division membership when the membership is not meeting in a regular or special meeting, those being all the powers of a Hawai'i nonprofit corporation and as an individual to do all things necessary or convenient to carry out its affairs including with out limitation the power to:
- (1) Examine the books of the Secretary and keep a correct record of all official board meetings, providing a record of the questions voted upon.
- (2) Examine the books of the Treasurer and as may be necessary and appropriate provide for an audit, compilation or review of the same by a certified public accountant and report their condition at the annual meeting of the State Division or at such times as the board or membership may require.

- (3) Fix the amount of salaries and compensation of all State Officers and employees if and when applicable. When deemed necessary, the HFUU Board shall require bonds on those persons handling HFUU or Chapter funds.
- (4) Fill all vacancies in the offices of President or Vice-President caused by death, resignation or otherwise. Appointees will serve only until the next annual meeting and until their successors are elected and qualified.
- (5) Perform all other duties imposed by law upon it or HFUU.
- (6) Conduct Board of Directors meetings via audio or videoconference.
- (7) Record attendance at Board of Directors meetings.
- (8) Remove any HFUU officer or director from office for incompetence, dishonesty, or betraying the unity of effort and purpose in the work of the Union according to procedures provided below.

Section 5.4. Removal of Officers and Directors

A. Grounds. An HFUU officer or director may be removed from office for incompetence, dishonesty, or betraying the unity of effort and purpose in the work of the Union only upon a hearing before the HFUU Board of Directors where the accused director or officer and the charging members may all present evidence giving the accused reasonable opportunity to defend themselves against the charges proffered. Removal shall require a majority vote of the entire duly elected or appointed HFUU Board of Directors with members voting in person or by audio or video conference in which the accused member may participate and vote.

B. Attendance. If any officer or board member misses two consecutive or a total of three meetings within a one-year period, whether a regularly scheduled or special meeting, said person may be summarily removed from office by a vote of the Board of Directors without a hearing if said absences are unexcused. Removal shall require a majority vote of the entire duly elected or appointed HFUU Board of Directors with members voting in person or by audio or video conference in which the accused member may participate and vote.

Section 5.5. Duties of the HFUU President

The President shall be the principal elected officer of the corporation; shall preside, as Chair, at meetings and conventions of the State Division; shall create committees for the furtherance of the interest of the State Division and appoint the members thereof; shall represent the State Division at county, local and national meetings and conventions, and to the public, and shall have such additional authority, powers and duties as are appropriate and customary for the office and as the Board of Directors may prescribe from time to time. He or she shall be a member of the Board of Directors with the right to cast one vote on all matters acted upon by the Board.

Section 5.6. Duties of the HFUU Vice President

The Vice President shall, in the absence, disability or failure to act, of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe. He or she shall be a member of the Board of Directors with the right to cast one vote on all matters acted upon by the Board.

Section 5.7. Duties of the HFUU Treasurer

The Treasurer shall have the custody of the funds and securities of the State Division, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the State Division and shall deposit all monies and other valuable effects in the name and to the

credit of the State Division in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the State Division as may be ordered by the Board of Directors taking proper vouchers for such disbursements and shall render to the President and Board of Directors at its regular meeting or when the President or Board of Directors so requires an account of all of his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the State Division and to make, or cause to be made, all the State Division's statistical and financial reports and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by law, the Board of Directors or President and under their supervision.

Section 5.8. Duties of the HFUU Secretary

The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and Members and record all the proceedings of the meetings of the State Division and of the Directors in a means suitable for the purpose and shall perform like duties for the standing committees when required. The Secretary shall give or cause to be given notice of all meetings of the members and Directors, is delegated the authority to authenticate the State Division records and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by law, the Board of Directors or President and under their supervision.

Section 5.9. Limitations of Officers and Directors

No officer or director may bind HFUU to any contract or other obligation without approval of the Board of Directors. HFUU may not loan money or guarantee any obligation of any HFUU officer or director.

Section 5.10. Elections

- **A. President and Vice President.** The President and Vice President shall be elected by vote of Regular Members entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting at which a quorum is present either in person or by Delegates. Directors representing the Chapters shall be appointed in writing or elected by their respective Chapters.
- **B.** Treasurer and Secretary. The offices of Treasurer and Secretary shall be filled by the vote of a majority of all the duly appointed or elected officers and directors.
- **C. Nominations Committee.** The Board shall appoint a Nominations Committee from among its members to supervise any annual or special meeting elections. Unless the Board directs otherwise the Secretary shall Chair the Nominations Committee. The Board may also appoint other Election Officials to assist the Nominations Committee.
- **D. Call for Nominations.** At least thirty (30) days prior to the annual or special meeting called to elect the President or Vice President, the Nominations Committee Chair shall issue or cause to be issued a Notice of Election and a Call for Nominations. The Call for Nominations shall identify whether the office of President or Vice President is up for election and the length of term each such officer will serve.
- **E. Intent to Run.** Any Regular Member entitled to vote and who wishes to run for the office of President or Vice President shall send written notice of intent to run for the office as directed in the Call for Nominations together with a passport size photo (if available) and an accurate explanation of not more than two hundred (200) words of their qualifications for the office. The nomination notice, photo (if any) and accompanying explanation must be actually delivered as directed in the Call for Nominations either electronically, by mail, delivery service or in person at least ten (10) days prior to the date when the election is to be held.

- **F. Committee Nominations.** In its discretion and with the nominee's approval the Nominations Committee may also nominate for President or Vice President one or more Regular Members entitled to vote according to the foregoing procedures.
- **G. Voter Packet.** No later than five (5) days after receipt of the nominations, any photos and explanations of qualifications the Nominations Committee Chair shall compile or cause to be compiled a written voter packet to be mailed or sent electronically to all Regular Members entitled to vote consisting of each candidate's nomination, explanation of qualifications and any photo.
- **H. Floor Nominations.** Nominations may also be made from the floor at the meeting during a time provided for that purpose.
- **I. Floor Questions.** After floor nominations are closed each nominee for the offices of President and Vice President shall be required to answer pertinent questions from the floor. No candidate may be elected to the office of President or Vice President unless they are present at the meeting to answer questions.
- **J. Voting.** In the discretion of the Nominations Committee either before or after the question period Regular Members who are present will be given pre-printed ballots to cast their votes by secret ballot deposited in a secure ballot box. Unless for good cause the Nominations Committee decides otherwise, Delegates may only vote after the question period.
- **K. Counting.** After the voting is complete the Nominations Committee or the Election Officials at the direction of the Nominations Committee or its Chair shall immediately count the ballots. The candidate receiving at least forty percent (40%) of the votes cast shall be declared the winner. If no candidate receives the required vote, the Nominations Committee shall immediately conduct a run off election among the candidates receiving the first and second most votes. The candidate receiving a majority of those votes shall be declared the winner.
- **L. Other Policies and Procedures.** The Nominations Committee may adopt such other policies and procedures as may be necessary and convenient for the conduct of elections not inconsistent with law. To the extent necessary and practicable all such policies and procedures shall be in writing and available upon request to all Regular Members entitled to vote and their Delegates.
- **M. Electronic Meetings.** In its sole discretion the Board of Directors may allow Regular Members entitled to vote either in person or by Delegates to participate in an annual or regular meeting of members by means of Internet, teleconference, or other electronic transmission technology in a manner that allows Members and Delegates the opportunity to:
- (1) Read or hear the proceedings substantially concurrently with the occurrence of the proceedings;
- (2) Vote on matters submitted to the members;
- (3) Pose questions; and
- (4) Make comments.
- A Regular Member or Delegate participating in a meeting by means authorized under this subsection shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting. The Board of Directors shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed present and

permitted to vote at the meeting by means of the Internet, teleconference, or other electronic transmission technology is a Regular Member or Delegate entitled to vote at the meeting.

Section 5.11. National Delegates

The State Board shall appoint a delegate or delegates to the National Convention of Directors on the basis of representation as provided in the National Farmers Union Bylaws, Article 5, Section H, namely one delegate, with full voice and vote, to the National Convention for the first 2,500 members, or fraction thereof, and an additional delegate for each additional 2,500 members or major fraction thereof.

ARTICLE 6 HFUU Committees

Section 6.1. Appointed by HFUU President

The President of the State Division may create standing and other committees as necessary and appropriate for the purposes described in this Article and to further the Interest of the State Division and may appoint members of those committees at least one of whom must also be a member of the HFUU Board. Subject to the approval of the HFUU Board of Directors, the President shall appoint the Chairs of these Committees.

Section 6.2. Standing Committees

- **A. Cooperatives Committee.** The Cooperatives Committee shall serve as a resource in cooperative education for HFUU, planning and presenting cooperative educational events at the annual meeting and other meetings/venues as approved by the State Board of Directors. It shall organize, develop and distribute cooperative educational materials, track, network and promote cooperative initiatives in Hawai'i.
- **B. Education Committee.** The Education Committee shall establish educational goals and activities including scholarships at the state level based on suggestions or recommendations from the membership. The Education Committee shall liaison with the respective committees at the HFUU Chapters to prioritize educational goals and to plan educational activities at the state, county, and community levels. The Education Committee should also network with educational institutions and other agencies in the state and at the federal level to cooperate in conducting educational programs and to stay updated with current educational opportunities.
- C. Legislative Committee. The Legislative Committee, assisted by the Policy Committee, shall establish legislative goals at the state level based on suggestions and recommendations from the membership and shall consult on county and community level policy-making. The Legislative Committee shall participate collaboratively with the Policy Committee, coalitions, organizations, and agencies to articulate, promote and work to establish legislation and policies that align with the mission and vision of the HFUU. The Legislative Committee shall meet prior to the annual meeting and receive resolutions presented by members of local Chapters. It is recommended all resolutions to be acted upon at any annual meeting shall be presented to the Legislative Committee Chair at least one week prior to the opening of the annual meeting. Additionally, for HFUU internal matters, the Legislative Committee shall draft suitable resolutions and policy proposals expressing the wishes or sentiments of the members on any matters of general concern to them, and submit them to the annual meeting for approval. On being approved, such resolutions shall require the HFUU Board of Directors and members to strive for the fulfillment of wishes or decisions so expressed.
- **D. Membership Committee.** The Membership Committee shall meet as needed to discuss ways to attract new members to the Chapters and State Division, to bring the message of HFUU to our communities, and to sustain and enhance the existing membership. The

Membership Committee will provide support at meetings, events, and programs held throughout the state, create surveys to stay current with our membership and with our demographics, and report all results and suggestions to the HFUU Board of Directors. This committee will also address the continual expansion of member benefits.

E. Communications Committee. The communications committee shall consist of one member from each chapter to facilitate internal communication as well as external communication. The committee chair shall be appointed by the HFUU State Chapter President, and shall be responsible for timely and accurate communications with HFUU membership. Committee members shall consist of the local chapter presidential appointees. **F. Finance Committee.** The Finance Committee shall consist of the Treasurer from each chapter. The committee Chair shall be the HFUU State Treasurer. The Chair shall be responsible for accurate monthly and quarterly financial reporting to the HFUU Board of directors. The committee members shall be responsible for accurate monthly and quarterly financial reporting to the committee Chair. All financial reporting shall be recorded and approved by the HFUU CPA on a quarterly basis, and Federal, State and County Tax liabilities managed in accordance with the laws thereof.

Section 6.3. Other Possible Committees

- **A. Policy Committee.** The Policy Committee may meet prior to the annual meeting to prepare rules of procedure for the transaction of business of the meeting and to consider and propose changes in the articles or bylaws for consideration of the members. The Policy Committee shall assist the Legislative Committee in determining the policy goals and objectives of the members by survey of member views, solicitation of Chapter Resolutions or other means as the Legislative Committee or its Chair may request.
- **B. Nominations Committee.** The Nominations Committee shall examine and may approve or reject all credentials of members, and tally votes at any membership meeting where a vote is taken on any matter. At the first business session of the annual meeting, the Credentials Committee shall make a report of those Regular Members entitled to vote and shall make supplementary reports from time to time during the session for seating delayed Regular Members, if any. The Nominations Committee may meet at least thirty (30) days prior to the annual or any special meeting to solicit nominations for the election of the President and/or Vice President. The Committee will provide notice of open offices, and compile the slate of candidates and nominate or solicit the names of candidates to be distributed in advance of the meeting to the Regular Members entitled to vote at the meeting.

ARTICLE 7 Amending Bylaws

Section 7.1. Method of Amending

- **A. Meeting.** These Bylaws may be amended at any State Division annual or special meeting where a quorum is present by a majority vote of those Regular Members who are present and entitled to vote or their Delegates.
- **B. Notice.** A written copy of any proposed amendment shall be presented at the meeting and a copy thereof made available to each Regular Member entitled to vote not less than fifteen (15) days before the vote on the amendment is taken.
- **C. Board Approval or Petition.** No Bylaw amendment may be considered unless it is either first proposed or approved by the HFUU Board of Directors or by petition signed by at least twenty percent (20%) of the Regular Members entitled to vote.

Section 7.2. Effect of Bylaws

The State Division shall function under applicable law, its Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws. The latest revised edition of Robert's Rules of Order may be followed as a guide in circumstances where these Bylaws do not definitively answer the question. If any

part or provision of the Articles or these Bylaws shall be held ineffective it shall not affect any of the remaining parts or provisions not so held.

ARTICLE 8 Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Employees Each director, officer, employee or agent of HFUU now or hereafter serving as such, shall be indemnified by HFUU against any and all claims and liabilities including reasonable settlements to which they have or shall become subject by reason of serving or having served in such capacity, or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken, omitted, or neglected by them as such director, officer, employee or agent. HFUU shall reimburse each such person for all legal expenses reasonably incurred by them in connection with any such claim or liability, provided, however, that no such person shall be indemnified against, or be reimbursed for any liability or expense incurred in connection with, any claim or liability arising out of his or her own willful misconduct or gross negligence. Any question as to the above rights and responsibilities shall be finally resolved by a majority of the HFUU Board of Directors not a party to the claim, or by a vote of the Regular Members at a meeting called for that purpose. The corporation shall maintain insurance covering such liability and expense, whether or not it could have power to indemnify such director, officer, employee or agent under law, contract, or by this provision. It is intended that reasonable advances may be made on such indemnity, and that the burden of proof of lack of entitlement be on any objector. If any part of these provisions shall be held ineffective, this shall not affect the balance, and in no case shall indemnification be less than provided or permitted to the full extent of the law.

CERTIFICATION

Anabelle Bruch, Secretary of the Hawaii Farmers Union United, certifies that the Corporation's Regular Members, at a duly called meeting held on November 17, 2016 in Waikapu, Hawai'i and at which a quorum was present did approve the foregoing Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws for and on behalf of the Corporation by unanimous consent of those Regular Members present and entitled to vote and as otherwise required by law, the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Corporation.

HAWAI'I FARMERS UNION UNITED

Anny Broch

Third Amended and Restated HFUU Bylaws Adopted 11/17/16